MONOGRAPH

No. 44

2013

Stefan Fronzek

Climate change and the future distribution of palsa mires: ensemble modelling, probabilities and uncertainties

MONOGRAPHS of the Boreal Environment Research

MONOGRAPHS OF THE BOREAL ENVIRONMENT RESEARCH

44

Stefan Fronzek

Climate change and the future distribution of palsa mires: ensemble modelling, probabilities and uncertainties

Yhteenveto Ilmastonmuutos ja palsasoiden levinneisyys tulevaisuudessa: parviennustaminen, todennäköisyydet ja epävarmuudet

The publication is available in the internet: www.syke.fi/publications | helda.helsinki.fi/syke

> ISBN 978-952-11-4203-1 (pbk.) ISBN 978-952-11-4204-8 (PDF) ISSN 1239-1875 (print.) ISSN 1796-1661 (online)

> > Edita Prima Ltd Helsinki 2013

Contents

List of original publications	5
Author's contribution to the publications	5
Abstract	6
Tiivistelmä	7
1 Introduction	8
1.1 Context and motivation	8
1.2 Methods of characterising the future for impact studies	10
1.3 Palsa mires	12
1.4 Objectives of this study	14
2 Materials and methods	15
2.1 Study area	15
2.2 Palsa mire distribution data	16
2.3 Observed climate data and climate projections for the 21st century	16
2.4 Climatic indices	17
2.5 Modelling the spatial distribution of palsa mires	18
2.6 Impact response surfaces and probabilistic assessment	18
3 Results	19
3.1 Present-day distribution of sub-arctic palsa mires and its climatic factors	19
3.2 Projections of future climate and its representations	19
3.3 Modelling the impact of climate change on palsa distributions	21
3.3.1 "Conventional" scenario analysis	21
uncertainties	23
4 Discussion	24
5 Conclusions	28
6 Acknowledgements	29
References	30

List of original publications

This thesis is a summary of research reported in five original articles (Appendices I - V), which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals:

- I) Luoto, M., S. Fronzek and F.S. Zuidhoff (2004). Spatial modelling of palsa mires in relation to climate in Northern Europe. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, **29**, 1373–1387.
- **II)** Fronzek, S., M. Luoto and T.R. Carter (2006). Potential effect of climate change on the distribution of palsa mires in subarctic Fennoscandia. *Climate Research*, **32**(1), 1–12.
- III) Fronzek, S. and T.R. Carter (2007). Assessing uncertainties in climate change impacts on resource potential for Europe based on projections from RCMs and GCMs. *Climatic Change*, 81(Suppl. 1), 357–371.
- IV) Fronzek, S., T.R. Carter, J. Räisänen, L. Ruokalainen and M. Luoto (2010). Applying probabilistic projections of climate change with impact models: a case study for sub-arctic palsa mires in Fennoscandia. *Climatic Change*, 99(3), 515-534.
- V) Fronzek, S., T.R. Carter and M. Luoto (2011). Evaluating uncertainty in modelling the impact of probabilistic climate change on sub-arctic palsa mires. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences* 11, 2981-2995.

Author's contribution to the publications

	I	П	111	IV	V
Original idea	ML	SF, ML	TC, SF	TC, SF	SF, TC
Materials	ML, SF	SF, ML	SF	JR, LR, ML	SF, ML
Analyses	ML, SF	SF	SF, TC	SF, TC	SF, TC
Manuscript preparation	ML, SF, FZ	SF,TC, ML	SF, TC	SF, TC	SF, TC

Table 1: Main contributions of authors to the original articles of the thesis.

TC:Timothy Carter, SF: Stefan Fronzek, ML: Miska Luoto, JR: Jouni Räisänen, LR: Leena Ruokalainen, FZ: Frida Zuidhoff

Climate change and the future distribution of palsa mires: ensemble modelling, probabilities and uncertainties

Stefan Fronzek

University of Helsinki, Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Department of Environmental Sciences, 2013

Fronzek, S. 2013. Climate change and the future distribution of palsa mires: ensemble modelling, probabilities and uncertainties. Monographs of the Boreal Environmental Research No. 44. 35 p.

Abstract

Palsas are mounds with a permafrost core covered by peat. They occur in subarctic palsa mires, which are ecologically valuable mire complexes located at the outer margin of the permafrost zone. Palsas are expected to undergo rapid changes under global warming. This study presents an assessment of the potential impacts of climate change on the spatial distribution of palsa mires in northern Fennoscandia during the 21st century. A large ensemble of statistical climate envelope models was developed, each model defining the relationship between palsa occurrences and a set of temperature-and precipitation-based indicators. The models were used to project areas suitable for palsas in the future. The sensitivity of these models to changes in air temperature and precipitation was analysed to construct impact response surfaces. These were used to assess the behaviour of models when extrapolated into changed climate conditions, so that new criteria, in addition to conventional model evaluation statistics, could be defined for determining model reliability.

A special focus has been on comparing alternative methods of representing future climate, applying these with impact models and quantifying different sources of uncertainty in the assessment. Climate change projections were constructed from output of coupled atmosphere-ocean general circulation models as well as finer resolution regional climate models and uncertainties in applying these with impact models were explored. New methods were developed to translate probabilistic climate change projections to probabilistic estimates of impacts on palsas.

In addition to future climate, structural differences in impact models appeared to be a major source of uncertainty. However, using the model judged most reliable according to the new criteria, results indicated that the area with suitable climatic conditions for palsas can be expected to shrink considerably during the 21st century, disappearing entirely for an increase in mean annual air temperature of 4°C relative to the period 1961-1990. The risk of this occurring by the end of the 21st century was quantified to be between 43% (for the B1 low emissions scenario) and 100% (for the A2 high emissions scenario). The projected changes in areas suitable for palsas are expected to have a significant influence on the biodiversity of subarctic mires and are likely to affect the regional carbon budget.

Keywords: climate change, climate envelope modelling, ensembles, Fennoscandia, impact model, impact response surface, palsa mire, permafrost, probabilistic projection, scenario, uncertainty.

Ilmastonmuutos ja palsasoiden levinneisyys tulevaisuudessa: parviennustaminen, todennäköisyydet ja epävarmuudet

Stefan Fronzek

University of Helsinki, Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Department of Environmental Sciences, 2013

Fronzek, S. 2013. Climate change and the future distribution of palsa mires: ensemble modelling, probabilities and uncertainties. Monographs of the Boreal Environmental Research No. 44. 35 p.

Tiivistelmä

Palsat ovat turvekumpuja, joiden ydin ei sula kesälläkään. Palsoja esiintyy subarktisilla palsasoilla, jotka ovat ikirouta-alueen reunoilla sijaitsevia ekologisesti arvokkaita suoalueita. Ilmaston lämpenemisen odotetaan aiheuttavan nopeita muutoksia palsasoihin. Tämä tutkimus arvioi ilmastonmuutoksen mahdollisia vaikutuksia palsojen esiintymisalueeseen Fennoskandian pohjoisosassa 2000-luvulla. Tutkimuksessa kehitettiin tilastollisia bioklimaattisia levinneisyysmalleja, joilla ennustettiin tulevaisuudessa palsoille soveltuvia alueita. Palsojen esiintyminen johdetaan malleissa indikaattoreista, jotka perustuvat lämpötilaan ja sademäärään. Analysoimalla bioklimaattisten levinneisyysmallien herkkyyttä lämpötilan ja sademäärän muutoksiin muodostettiin vaikutusvastepintoja. Näitä käytettiin mallien toimivuuden arvioimiseksi, kun mallit ekstrapoloitiin koskemaan muuttuneita ilmasto-olosuhteita. Vaikutusvastepintojen avulla pystyttiin määrittelemään uusia kriteereitä mallien luotettavuuden arvioimiseksi perinteisten arviointimentelmien lisäksi.

Tutkimus tarkasteli erityisesti vaihtoehtoisia tapoja luonnehtia tulevaisuuden ilmastoa, vaihtoehtojen käyttämistä vaikutusmalleissa sekä tapoja kvantifioida epävarmuutta vaikutusennusteissa. Ilmastonmuutosennusteet laadittiin globaalien ja alueellisten ilmastomallien perusteella ja tarkasteltiin niistä vaikutusmalleihin juontuvia epävarmuuksia. Tutkimuksessa kehitettiin uusia menetelmiä kytkeä vaikutusvastepinnat ilmastonmuutoksen todennäköisyysennusteisiin ja johtaa näin todennäköisyysennusteita ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutuksesta palsoihin.

Tulevaisuuden ilmastoennusteisiin liittyvän epävarmuuden lisäksi vaikutusmallien rakenteelliset erot vaikuttivat olevan suuri epävarmuuden aiheuttaja ennusteissa. Kun käytettiin uusien kriteerien perusteella luotettavimmaksi arvioitua mallia, palsasoiden leviämisalueen ennustettiin kutistuvan huomattavasti 2000-luvulla ja häviävän kokonaan, jos lämpötila nousee yli 4°C verrattuna jaksoon 1961-1990. Riskiksi, että näin tapahtuu ennen vuotta 2100, arvioitiin 43% matalien päästöjen emissi-oskenaariolla B1 ja 100% korkeiden päästöjen emissioskenaariolla A2. Ennustetut muutokset palsojen esiintymisalueessa vaikuttanevat suuresti subarktisten soiden monimuotoisuuteen ja alueelliseen hiilitaseeseen.

Asiasanat: ilmastonmuutos, bioklimaattinen levinneisyysmalli, parviennustus, Fennoskandia, vaikutusmalli, vaikutusvastepinta, palsasuo, ikirouta, todennäköisyysennuste, skeenario, epävarmuus.

1 Introduction

1.1 Context and motivation

The warming effect of increased greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere has long been discussed. Arrhenius (1896) was the first scientist to estimate the warming effect of increased levels of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO_2) , one of the greenhouse gases, on surface temperatures. Concentrations of CO₂ have increased since industrialization and are now 30 to 40% higher than any values recorded in the past 650 000 years from analysis of air trapped in ice cores (Siegenthaler et al. 2005). Other important greenhouse gases such as methane (CH_{4}) and nitrous oxide $(N_{2}O)$ have also increased their concentrations as a consequence of human activities (IPCC 2007). At the same time, surface temperatures have increased in many regions of the world during the latter part of the 20th century and have continued to do so until today. The human-induced enhanced greenhouse effect is thought to be the main cause of the global warming trend (IPCC 2007).

Global mean temperatures have increased by 0.6°C during the 20th century (IPCC 2007) and nine of the ten warmest years since the beginning of this period were observed in the decade 2001-2010 (Brohan et al. 2006, Jones 2012). The warming has been greatest at higher latitudes, one reason for which are decreases of surface albedo for shorter periods and smaller areas with snow and ice cover in the Arctic that enhance the warming effect (AMAP 2011, Screen et al. 2012). Mean annual temperature in the Arctic has increased by 0.9°C during the 20th century (ACIA 2005), while the corresponding value for Finland is 0.7°C, which is still slightly above the global average (Tietäväinen et al. 2010). Changes in precipitation, on the other hand, are spatially and temporally more variable, hence only few significant trends have been established, such as increasing winter precipitation in parts of Northern Europe (Bhend and Storch 2008).

Many extreme weather events are directly affected by a shift of the average temperatures. Consequently, the frequency and intensity of high temperature events has increased, while those of low temperature events have generally decreased (IPCC 2007). Examples are the central European heat wave in summer 2003 (Beniston 2004, Schär *et al.* 2004) and that in Russia and eastern Europe in July 2010 (Barriopedro *et al.* 2011), which also strongly affected eastern Finland (Saku *et al.* 2011).

Consequences of the changing climate are manifold and appear across nearly all sectors and in a large variety of human and natural systems. Examples of observed impacts in natural systems from Northern Europe include changes in plant and animal phenology such as an earlier beginning of the growing season of trees (Chmielewski and Rötzer 2002, Linkosalo et al. 2009) and other plants (Menzel et al. 2006), earlier spring arrival and later autumn departure of breeding birds (Lehikoinen et al. 2010), earlier breeding of amphibians and earlier arrival or emergence of butterflies (Parmesan 2007). Some bird and butterfly species have expanded their ranges polewards (e.g. Mitikka et al. 2008, Virkkala and Rajasarkka 2010), as have many plant species (Walther et al. 2002).

The cryosphere has been affected by changing climatic conditions as documented by shortening ice periods of lakes and rivers in the northern hemisphere (Benson *et al.* 2012), including Finland, a reduction of ice cover in the Arctic Ocean (Stroeve *et al.* 2012) that has started to open up shipping routes between the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans (Shibata *et al.* 2011), shorter snow periods and reduced area and volume of glaciers and permafrost (AMAP 2011) with widespread ecological effects (Post *et al.* 2009).

In the subarctic region of northern Europe, permafrost is not widespread and mainly occurs as mountain permafrost at higher altitudes or in lowlands in palsas (peat mounds with a frozen core – see section 1.3) and peat plateaus (Christiansen *et al.* 2010). Palsas are located in the discontinuous permafrost zone (Callaghan *et al.* 2011). Their marginal location makes them very sensitive even to small fluctuations in climate (Sollid and Sørbel 1998); hence it has been suggested that they could serve as excellent indicators of climate change (Hofgaard 2003). Indeed, local studies suggest that palsas are already in decline, probably due to regional warming (e.g. Zuidhoff and Kolstrup 2000, Luoto and Seppälä 2003). A further loss of this habitat type can be expected for projected future warming, which might have substantial biological implications (Luoto *et al.* 2004) and alter the fluxes of greenhouse gases released from the thawing peat soils (Christensen *et al.* 2004).

Projections of future climate are commonly prepared by applying scenarios of future greenhouse gas and aerosol concentrations as inputs to numerical models that simulate key processes of the climate system (described in more detail in section 1.2). Using a range of these models and scenarios, the Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change (IPCC 2007) projected an increase in global mean temperature of between 1.1 and 6.4°C by the end of the 21st century relative to 1980-1999.¹ Hence, future warming is expected to exceed, possibly by several times, that observed during the 20th century. Regional and seasonal estimates vary considerably, with larger warming projected for the high northern latitudes, especially during the winter (Christensen et al. 2007b). For Finland, the range of warming² has been quantified as 2.0-6.5°C by the end of the 21st century relative to 1971-2000, with larger warming in winter (3-9°C) than in summer (1-5°C) (Jylhä et al. 2009).

Much work has been conducted in Europe and elsewhere to assess the potential impacts of projected climate change for natural systems and human activities. Numerical models have been developed for this purpose that describe system behaviour under different climate conditions. Examples include impact models for agricultural crops (e.g. Downing *et al.* 2000), water resources (e.g. Veijalainen *et al.* 2010) and natural vegetation (e.g. Hickler *et al.* 2012). Results from studies using such models for European conditions have been summarised in assessment reports (e.g. Alcamo *et al.* 2007, AMAP 2011, EEA 2012).

In impact assessments, uncertainties propagate through a chain of analysis steps, commonly being amplified in each of them (Figure 1). Impacts are typically at the end of this chain and therefore subject to several sources of uncertainty. This has been referred to as the "cascading pyramid of uncertainty" (Schneider 1983) or the "cascade of uncertainty" (e.g. Jones 2000). The chain of analysis starts with uncertainties in the drivers of future emissions, such as population, social structure and technological development, which can greatly affect the global demand for energy, the production of which is a major cause of greenhouse gas emissions. Emissions are next converted into concentrations of different greenhouse gases and aerosols using models of the carbon cycle and atmospheric chemistry. The atmospheric concentrations are interpreted in terms of their radiative effect on the climate system (radiative forcing), which is used to force global climate models. Additional uncertainties are introduced when attempting to regionalize or downscale estimates from global models to a finer scale more relevant for impact analysis, for which several alternative techniques are available. Regional climate scenarios are then used to estimate impacts of climate change, which have their own sources of uncertainties.



Figure I. Cascade of uncertainty in climate change impact assessments. Source: adapted from Jones (2000).

¹ This range of projections has been assigned a likelihood of greater than 66% by the IPCC.

 $^{^2}$ The range was expressed as the 5th to 95th percentiles of an ensemble of 19 GCMs for three emission scenarios.

The conventional approach to examine climate change impacts with numerical impact models has been that a limited number of deterministic climate scenarios, selected to embrace as realistic a range of uncertainties as possible, are run through a single impact model. Uncertainties both of climate projections and of impact estimates are commonly only quantified to a limited extent. This is in spite of the ready accessibility of multiple climate model projections from open access data archives (e.g. Christensen et al. 2007a, Meehl et al. 2007a); however, the handling of these vast and rapidly expanding data resources remains a major challenge, especially for impact analysis with more complex models that require detailed input data.

The number of climate model simulations has increased in parallel with the development of computing power. Larger numbers of simulations can help to quantify the uncertainty of climate projections which can be seen in attempts to estimate probability density functions (PD-Fs) of future climate changes globally (Murphy *et al.* 2004, Meehl *et al.* 2007b) and for smaller regions (Räisänen and Ruokolainen 2006, Harris *et al.* 2010, Frieler *et al.* 2012). Using such PDFs of climate changes with impact models provides an opportunity to go beyond "whatif" type studies of potential impacts towards quantitative assessments of the likelihood that a certain impact will occur. However, it may also require new approaches for impact analysis to be developed.

1.2 Methods of characterising the future for impact studies

One major objective in model-based climate change impact assessments is the estimation of future impacts. For this, a climate-sensitive impact model is required of which many have been developed describing key aspects in various sectors (see section 1.1 above), ranging from simple empirical-statistical indices to complex processed-based models. Next, a characterisation of the future climate and other aspects of the future are needed. Carter *et al.* (2007) identify several approaches of characterising the future that differ in their comprehensiveness and likelihood (Figure 2).

Artificial experiments, ranging from simple thought-experiments to detailed modelling studies, follow a coherent logic without regard to plausibility. In sensitivity analyses, the values of a reference or baseline case of one or several variables are adjusted. Temporal and spatial analogues can be used to represent fu-



Figure 2. Characterisations of the future. The approaches used in the present-study are marked in italic. Source: adapted from Carter et al. (2007).

ture conditions of a study regions inferred from situations from the past or a different location. Projections are sometimes broadly referred to as model-derived quantifications of an aspect of the future; therefore, several approaches of characterising the future can be regarded as a projection. Scenarios are "coherent, internally consistent and plausible descriptions of a possible future state of the world" (IPCC 1994, p. 3). They are not forecasts or predictions, but instead each scenario provides an alternative future without assigned likelihoods (Nakićenović et al. 2000). Storylines are qualitative narratives describing general trends and events. Often, they provide the qualitative basis for quantifications with model-based projections that together form a scenario (Rounsevell and Metzger 2010). Probabilistic futures have ascribed likelihoods that quantify some aspects of the uncertainty, sometimes also conditional on the assumptions of a single scenario. Several of the approaches sketched in Figure 2 have been used to characterise future climate in the present study.

A common approach in impact assessments during recent decades has been the use of climate scenarios prepared with climate model simulations that were forced by scenarios of future emissions. One such set of emission scenarios is described and quantified in the Special Report of Emission Scenarios (SRES; Nakićenović et al. 2000) that has been the basis for climate model simulations prepared for the third and fourth assessment reports of the IPCC (IPCC 2001, 2007). SRES contains a set of alternative scenarios that make different assumptions about future development in socio-economic variables driving emissions that influence the level of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere. Four narrative storylines have been developed that describe the world as integrating globally with economic emphasis (labelled the A1 storyline), global but with environmental emphasis (B1), and a development towards regionalisation with economic (A2) or environmental (B2) emphasis. Using integrated assessment models, in total 40 alternative quantifications of future emissions and their effect on atmospheric greenhouse gas

concentrations and radiative forcing have been prepared for these storylines, spanning a large range of uncertainty. Six of these were selected as so-called "illustrative marker scenarios" (Nakićenović *et al.* 2000) and have been used to force simulations with climate models.

The most sophisticated tools currently available to simulate the response of the climate system to increased greenhouse gas concentrations are coupled atmosphere-ocean general circulation models (GCMs). These divide the Earth's atmosphere and oceans into a 3-dimensional grid and simulate large-scale processes between the different boxes. Some important processes occurring on smaller, sub-grid scales (e.g. related to the formation of clouds) are represented by a technique known as "parameterisation". This simplification of the climate system accounts for some of the uncertainty in climate modelling.

The horizontal resolution of coupled GCMs typically ranges between 150 and 600 km (Randall *et al.* 2007) and is usually much coarser than that relevant for most impact assessments (Mearns *et al.* 2003). Therefore, GCM output is typically regionalized or downscaled to a finer spatial resolution, using either statistical or dynamic approaches.

The simplest regionalization method is the delta-change approach, in which changes simulated with GCMs are added to observed climate which can be at a finer spatial resolution or for individual sites (Fowler et al. 2007). Usually changes in inter-annual or daily variability are not treated (e.g. Fronzek et al. 2012). The delta-change method assumes the bias of a climate model simulation for the baseline period to remain constant in the future. More sophisticated statistical downscaling methods include regression models weather classification schemes and weather generators (Wilby et al. 2004). These usually involve the development of statistical relationships between large-scale and local observed climate variables, assume these to remain constant over time and apply them to predict the future local climate from future large-scale conditions simulated by a GCM (Carter 2001).

Dynamic downscaling is conducted with Regional Climate Models (RCMs) that simulate the effect of increased greenhouse gas concentrations on climate over a limited spatial domain, but with higher horizontal resolution than GCMs. The conditions at the boundary are usually taken from GCM simulations. RCM experiments conducted for Europe have been conducted for grid sizes between 25 and 50 km cell length in the PRUDENCE (Christensen et al. 2007a) and ENSEMBLES (van der Linden and Mitchell 2009) projects. The outcome of an RCM simulation is strongly affected by the boundary conditions of the GCM within which it has been nested (Déqué et al. 2007), and, as with the GCM, control simulations show biases compared to observations (Jacob et al. 2007). Hence, a correction of model bias is still needed for most impact studies.

1.3 Palsa mires

This climate change impact study focuses on the case of subarctic palsa mires. Palsas are mounds with a permafrost core covered by peat and occur in subarctic mires (palsa mires). Palsas have a height between 0.5 and 10 metres above the mire surface (Åhman 1977, Seppälä 1988) with a diameter ranging between 2 and 150 metres and a minimum thickness of the peat layer of about 0.5 metres (Seppälä 2011). A typical example of a palsa from northern Finland is shown in Figure 3. Their distribution is confined to regions with climatic conditions exhibiting low annual temperature, relatively thin snow cover and a low amount of precipitation (Seppälä 1986). With their distinct morphology, palsas are good indicators of permafrost in otherwise permafrost-free mires (Luoto and Seppälä 2003). The term "palsa" originates from the language of the indigenous Saami people and is used with the same meaning, for example, in English, German, Finnish and French (Aapala and Aapala 2006).



Figure 3. Palsa near Kelottijärvi, Enontekiö, Lapland, Finland, 25 September 1995. Source: image bank of the Environmental Administration, photo credits: Aarno Torvinen.

Palsas naturally go through a dynamic cycle of development from formation to decay even without changes in environmental conditions, as has been described by Seppälä (1986). They start to form in the winter in locations with little snow, for example when wind is locally thinning the snow cover, and the frost can penetrate deep into the soil. Through frost heaving triggered by ice lenses, the mire surface rises and develops into what Seppälä termed a "palsa embryo", which dries out during the summer. Due to the low thermal conductivity of dry peat, the peat cover provides an effective insulation that can allow the frozen core to survive during even relatively warm summers (Kujala et al. 2008). Wet or frozen peat, on the other hand, has a much higher thermal conductivity. After autumn rains, this allows the frost in the next winter to penetrate deeply into the soil, causing the palsa surface to rise further. This process is repeated until the palsa reaches a mature stage. Cracks at the palsa surface can now start to develop which initiates a collapse stage, with erosion of peat blocks along the cracks (Zuidhoff 2003). The insulating effect of the peat

on the collapsing palsa is reduced, leading to the thawing of permafrost and development of thermokarst ponds formed by the meltwater (Luoto and Seppälä 2003). Under suitable climatic conditions, this unique cycle of palsa development is repeated. Palsa mires therefore often contain palsas at different development stages, creating a very heterogeneous landscape that is characterised by the dry palsa hummocks and wet thermokarst ponds. It has been argued that this unique successional behaviour and cycle of development of palsa mires marks them as exceptional geomorphological formations in subarctic landscapes that are worth conserving in their own right (Luoto *et al.* 2004).

Palsa mires have been found throughout the subarctic of the northern hemisphere in locations where a sufficiently thick peat layer exists and suitable climatic conditions are present (see Figure 4). Palsa locations were reported from Fennoscandia (Sollid and Sørbel 1998, Luoto *et al.* 2004), Iceland (Thórhallsdóttir 1994, Kneisel *et al.* 2007), Svalbard (Åkerman 1982), Russia (Åkerman 1982, Oksanen *et al.* 2003, Jankovskà *et al.* 2006, Barcan 2010, Kirpotin



Figure 4: Palsa occurrences reported in the literature (green points), the northern Fennoscandian distribution from Luoto et al. (2004) (red area) and the mean annual temperature between -5 and 0°C (blue shading) for the period 1961-1990 from the CRU CL 2.0 gridded temperature data set (New et al. 2002).

et al. 2011), Mongolia (Sykles and Vanchig 2007), Japan (Sone 2002), Alaska (Tsuyuzaki et al. 2007) and Canada (Thie 1974, Dionne 1984, Doolittle et al. 1992, An and Allard 1995, Payette et al. 2004), although it is not always clear if these reports are based on a common definition of a palsa whose permafrost has developed in peat³. Relicts of possible former palsas have also been reported from the southern hemisphere in Argentina (Trombotto 2002). The northern limit of the distribution is usually defined by continuous permafrost. In many places, the palsa distribution demarcates the southern limit of the discontinuous permafrost zone. This marginal location makes palsas very sensitive to even small fluctuations in climate (Sollid and Sørbel 1998). In fact, palsas are in decline throughout their distribution as has been observed in Fennoscandia (Matthews et al. 1997, Zuidhoff and Kolstrup 2000, Luoto and Seppälä 2003, Åkerman and Johansson 2008), Russia (Kirpotin et al. 2011) and north America (Beilman et al. 2001, Payette et al. 2004, Camill 2005, Vallée and Payette 2007) and this decline has been linked with increases in regional air temperature.

The heterogeneous environments of palsa mires offer distinct ecosystem services that are characterised by a rich species diversity (CAFF 2001). Palsas are preferred breeding grounds for bird species and offer resting places for migrating birds (Järvinen and Väisänen 1976, Järvinen 1979). Furthermore, the European distribution of the dragonfly *S. sahlbergi* is believed to be totally restricted to palsa mires (Schröter 2011). Consequently, the value of palsa mires for nature conservation has been recognised and they have been listed as one of 65 priority natural habitat types in Annex I of the "Habitats" Directive of the European Union (Anon. 2007).

Permafrost stores significant amounts of carbon that, if the permafrost thaws as a result of warming, potentially can be released to the atmosphere and thus provide a feedback to the climate system (Schuur et al. 2008). Thawing and disintegration of permafrost formations in palsa mires modifies hydrology and vegetation dynamics. In Fennoscandia, this has resulted in wetter hydrological conditions with a greater proportion of thermokarst ponds (Luoto and Seppälä 2003, Christensen et al. 2004). On a landscape-scale, these transitions have been observed to lead to increases in CH₄ emissions to the atmosphere (Christensen et al. 2004), but to decreases or even an uptake of CO₂ (Bäckstrand et al. 2010) through a shift from dry hummock to moist hummock vegetation with a higher carbon fixation (Bosiö et al. 2012). The balance of these two counteracting effects depends on local hydrological conditions and vegetation structure. Bosiö et al. (2012) scaled flux measurements from individual palsa sites to estimate a regional carbon budget of northern Fennoscandian palsa mires; their results indicated that the effect of carbon fixation by plants may be larger than that of increases in CH₄ emissions for their study region by the mid-21st century, although large uncertainties in this estimate were acknowledged.

1.4 Objectives of this study

The main thesis of this work is that conventional approaches to examine potential climate change impacts often fall short in rigorously representing uncertainties both in the future climate and in its impacts. This work attempts to demonstrate how limited and potentially misleading conventional methods can be, by comparing them with more comprehensive methods tailored to the problem in hand.

The subarctic palsa mires of northern Fennoscandia serve as a case study, for which several contributors to the "cascade of uncertainty" in assessing impacts of future climate change are addressed. The study has three main components, which are first, an examination of present-day palsa distribution and its relation to climate, second, projections of future climate and third, modelling the impact of climate change on the palsa distribution both using conven-

³ The literature is not consistent in the use of the term palsa. Some authors, including Seppälä (1986), define palsas as peat-covered mounds with a frozen core, whereas others also use the term palsa for mounds in mineral soil without any peat, which are alternatively referred to as *lithalsas* (Pissart 2002).

tional scenarios analysis and in a probabilistic framework. In each of these elements, special attention is paid to the treatment of uncertainties (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Components of the thesis.

Specifically, the thesis has the following objectives, grouped by its components:

Modelling the effects of climate on the distribution of palsas and associated uncertainties

- 1. To assess to what extend the spatial distribution of palsa mires can be explained by climate on a regional scale, and construct statistical models of this relationship;
- 2. To apply the statistical models to investigate the sensitivity of the palsa distribution to changes in climate;
- 3. To evaluate the robustness and plausibility of model extrapolations and to quantify the uncertainties of climate envelope models for palsa mires.

Representing future climate in impact studies

- To investigate the added value of climate change projections dynamically downscaled with regional climate models (RCMs) compared to projections of general circulation models (GCMs) in model-based impact assessments;
- To develop methods of applying probabilistic climate projections with impact models.

Projecting impacts of future climate change on palsa distributions

- 6. To project changes in the palsa mire distribution during the 21st century;
- 7. To define a critical climate change for northern Fennoscandia that would induce the total disappearance of palsa mires, and estimate the risk and timing of such an occurrence.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study area

The study area is located in northern Fennoscandia and covers the boreal forest and tundra regions of subarctic Norway, Sweden and Finland. The southern border is defined by the Polar Circle (66°33'N). The Norwegian coastline borders the study area to the west and north, the eastern border is defined by the border with Russia. The area has been divided into 1913 land cells with a regular spacing of 10' x 10' spatial resolution (18.5 km x 6.7 km = 123.3 km² at 69°N) and covers in total ca. 240 000 km² (see Fig. 1 in paper I). The altitude ranges from sea level on the Norwegian coast to Sweden's highest peak, Kebnekaise, at 2214 m a.s.l. The climate varies widely in the study area from maritime on the Norwegian coast towards more continental in Finland. Annual precipitation totals range from 370 mm in northern Sweden to 2170 mm at the coast. The coastal areas also have the highest mean annual temperature of +4.7°C, while the lowest temperature in the study area, -6.0°C, is found in the mountains of northern Sweden.

In addition to the palsa studies for Fennoscandia, a broader-scale analysis of climate indicators for Europe is also presented, based on a regular grid with a spatial resolution of 0.5° x 0.5° over a European window stretching from 35° to 75° N latitude and 15° W to 35° E longitude. This domain is displayed, for example, in Fig. 2 of paper III.

2.2 Palsa mire distribution data

The spatial distribution of palsa mires in the study area was recorded on the same regular 10' x 10' grid for which climate data were also available (see below). The presence or absence of palsa mires was recorded for each grid cell and stored in a geographical information system. The information was collected from a variety of different sources including journal articles, published books, geomorphological and geological maps published between 1962 and 2002 (see paper I for references).

2.3 Observed climate data and climate projections for the 21st century

Baseline climate data comprised observed monthly mean temperature and precipitation interpolated to a regular grid over Europe. These were obtained from the University of East Anglia's Climatic Research Unit (CRU) at two spatial resolutions, 10' x 10' (CRU TS 1.2, Mitchell et al. 2004) extracted for the period 1951-2000 and 0.5° x 0.5° (CRU TS 2.0) extracted for the period 1961-1990 (Mitchell and Jones 2005). These gridded datasets have been constructed from meteorological observations by first interpolating monthly longterm averages for the period 1961-1990 as a function of latitude, longitude, and elevation using thin-plate splines (New et al. 1999). The station network for this was relatively dense over the northern Fennoscandia study region. A time-series of monthly anomalies interpolated using angular distance-weighted interpolation was then added to the long-term average (Mitchell and Jones 2005). The station density of the time-series data was smaller in many areas including northern Fennoscandia and varied over time. The anomaly approach allowed to incorporate the greater spatial detail provided with the interpolation for the long-term average also for time steps for which fewer station data

were available. For the analysis of this study, 30-year monthly means were calculated for the periods 1951-1980, 1961-1990 and 1971-2000 and time-series data were used for the period 1961-1990 (Table 2).

Climate projections for the 21st century were constructed using the delta-change approach (see section 1.2) with several ensembles of GCM and RCM simulations and two probabilistic datasets covering a range of emission scenarios (Table 2). Monthly changes between long-term averages of future periods and the baseline period, 1961-1990, were calculated for temperature and precipitation. The changes were then added (or multiplied in case of relative changes) to the observed climatology of the baseline period. Ensembles of GCM simulations were taken from archives prepared for the IPCC Third Assessment Report (TAR, IPCC 2001) and the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 3 (CMIP3, Meehl et al. 2007a) for SRES emission scenarios, as well as from the ENSEMBLE project for an emission scenario (E1) with strong mitigation measures (Johns et al. 2011). An ensemble of RCM simulations was taken from the PRUDENCE project (Christensen et al. 2007a). Temperature data from each year of the RCM simulations and the driving GCM were also used to analyse the changes in the inter-annual variability.

To allow a probabilistic assessment, the sample size of one of the GCM ensembles was increased using a re-sampling method developed by Räisänen and Ruokalainen (2006). A second probabilistic dataset, labelled the "Grand Ensemble", was provided by Harris et al. (2010) who combined the results of a perturbed-physics experiment of a single GCM with a multi-model ensemble to quantify the uncertainty of regional climate change projections. In these two probabilistic datasets, changes in temperature and precipitation are described by joint frequency distributions with sample sizes of several hundred for the re-sampling method, and 10000 for the Grand Ensemble.

Data set	Reference	Emission scenarios	Time periods	Paper					
Observed gridded climate data									
CRU_TS_1.2 (0.5° x 0.5°)	Mitchell & Jones (2005)		1961-1990 climatology and interannual variability	III					
CRU_TS_2.0 (10' x 10')	Mitchell et al. (2004)		1951-1980, 1961-1990 and 1971-2000 climatologies	I, II, IV,V					
Future projections									
7 GCMs (IPCC-TAR)	IPCC (2001)	SRES B2,A2, B1*,A1FI*	Three 30-year period-averages (2010-39, 2040-69, 2070- 99/2071-2100)	11, 111					
9 RCMs and their driving GCMs (PRUDENCE)	Christensen et al. (2007)	SRES B2,A2	30-year period-averages (2071-2100) and interannual variability	111					
7 GCMs forced with the E1 mitigation scenario (EN- SEMBLES)	Johns et al. (2011)	EI, SRES AIB	Two 20-year period-averages (2010-2039, 2070-2099)	V					
Probabilistic projections from re-sampled 21-GCM ensemble (CMIP3)	Räisänen & Ruokolainen (2006)	SRES BI, AIB, A2	Nine 30-year period averages (1991-2020, 2071-2100)	IV					
Probabilistic projections "Grand Ensemble", perturbed- physics experiment and multi-model ensembles (EN- SEMBLES)	Harris et al. (2010)	SRES AIB	Nine 20-year period averages (2000-2019, 2010-2029, 2020- 39,, 2080-2099)	V					
*GCM simulations for these emission scenarios were not directly available, but instead outputs from different forc-									

Table 2: Datasets of observed and projected climate used in the thesis and the papers in which they were employed.

*GCM simulations for these emission scenarios were not directly available, but instead outputs from different forcing scenarios were pattern-scaled to represent regional climate changes under the SRES AIFI and BI emission scenarios (Ruosteenoja et al. 2007).

2.4 Climatic indices

A number of indices were calculated with observed and scenario climate data to describe climatic conditions in northern Europe relevant for palsas and other ecosystems or human activities:

- Annual, summer (May-September) and winter (October-April) precipitation totals.
- Mean annual air temperature.
- A continentality index defined as difference between the maximum and minimum values of mean monthly temperatures.
- Effective temperature sum (ETS) that accumulates daily mean temperatures above or below a threshold temperature. Different thresholds were used to define freezing (FDD), thawing (TDD), growing (GDD) and cooling (CDD) degree-days. Two alternative methods were used to estimate ETS from monthly mean temperatures, 1) in paper I by first interpolating monthly

values to daily using a sine-curve interpolation method (Brooks 1943), and 2) in papers **II**, **III**, **IV**, and **V** by integrating the ETS function over an assumed Gaussian daily temperature distribution (Kauppi and Posch 1985). Thresholds for GDD were also applied to define the thermal suitability of crops.

- Frost number defined as a function of FDD and TDD (see paper I).
- Length of the thawing and thermal growing periods defined as the periods when mean daily temperature is above 0°C and 5°C, respectively.
- An index of potential biomass defined according to an empirical relationship between measurements and long-term mean annual temperature and precipitation (Lieth 1975). This model does not directly account for the fertilizing effect of increased CO₂ concentrations.

While some of these indices were used to analyse the climatic envelope of the northern Fennoscandian palsa distribution (see next section and papers I, II, IV, V), paper III explored indicators that are also relevant for other impact sectors to study uncertainties in downscaling methods and the effect of changes in inter-annual variability.

2.5 Modelling the spatial distribution of palsa mires

The spatial distribution of northern Fennoscandian palsa mires was studied by means of climate envelope models. Envelope modelling techniques involve attempting to correlate the spatial distribution of species or habitats to environmental predictor variables (Guisan and Zimmermann 2000). More recently, such techniques have also been applied with distribution data of geomorphological processes and landforms (Luoto and Hjort 2004, Hjort et al. 2007, Hjort and Luoto 2013). Using climate variables as predictors, envelope models can be used to assess the effect of changes in climate on the spatial distribution of the response variable (Heikkinen et al. 2006). The basic assumption here is that the spatial distribution is in equilibrium with the current climate.

Eight envelope modelling techniques were used in this study to relate palsa presence/absence with climate: Generalized Linear Modelling (GLM), Generalized Additive Modelling (GAM), Classification Tree Analysis (CTA), Artificial Neural Networks (ANN), Multiple Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS), Mixture Discriminant Analysis (MDA), Random Forests (RF) and Generalized Boosting methods (GBM); these are described briefly in papers II and V (and see Table 1, paper V). They differ in their conceptional approaches and concrete algorithms and can be grouped into regression (GLM, GAM, MARS), classification (CTA, MDA) and machine-learning methods (ANN, RF, GBM) (Marmion et al. 2008). The application of several techniques facilitated the quantification of uncertainties attributable to differing model structure.

Models were calibrated in a split-sampling approach that randomly divides the data into separate subsets for model calibration and for evaluation. Two evaluation statistics were calculated, the area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC) and the Kappa coefficient of agreement. AUC is a threshold-independent method to evaluate model predictions (Guisan and Zimmermann 2000); the Kappa coefficient is a measure of correct predictions adjusted for agreement that might occur by chance (Heikkinen *et al.* 2006).

The calibration and evaluation of climate envelope models for palsa mires was conducted in three steps to distinguish several sources of impact model uncertainty. First, the relationship of the palsa mire distribution to a larger set of climatic predictor variables and their relative significance was tested with a single modelling technique (paper I). Uncertainty of structural model differences was then studied by comparing a larger set of five modelling techniques calibrated with the most significant predictor variables (paper II). Finally, the parameter uncertainty of each of these five and three additional modelling techniques was quantified and combined with an estimate of uncertainty in initial conditions, sampled using different baseline periods (paper V). A total of 600 palsa models was analysed in the last step to quantify the most important sources of uncertainty more fully.

The palsa models were applied with deterministic climate scenarios for time periods of throughout the 21st century in a conventional impact assessment to project the future distribution of palsa mires (paper II).

2.6 Impact response surfaces and probabilistic assessment

The sensitivity of the palsa models to systematic changes in climate variables was tested and used to construct two-dimensional impact response surfaces. These show changes in the area suitable for palsas in relation to changes in mean annual temperature and precipitation. Since the predictor variables of the palsa models require monthly mean temperature, four alternative scaling functions were applied that made different assumptions for converting mean annual temperature changes to monthly changes (paper IV). These different versions of the impact response surface were then overlaid with probabilistic projections of climate change that are defined on the same axes as joint frequency distributions of temperature and precipitation changes. The change in area suitable for palsas was evaluated from the impact response surface for the combination of changes in temperature and precipitation of each member of the probabilistic climate change sample. This defined a sample of estimates of changes in suitable palsa area with the same sample size as the climate change projections. Two thresholds for the palsa distribution were defined, the reduction of suitable area to less than half of the baseline palsa distribution and the total loss of area suitable for palsas. The latter represents a critical threshold for the presence of palsa mire habitats in the study region, whereas the first threshold was arbitrarily selected to quantify intermediate impacts. The risk of exceeding these thresholds was then calculated from the sample of impact estimates. Additional impact estimates were calculated by evaluating impact response surfaces for temperature and precipitation changes projected for the E1 mitigation scenario.

In paper IV, an analysis with different versions of impact response surfaces for a single palsa envelope model was conducted and compared to the conventional assessment where model simulations were conducted for all members of the probabilistic climate change ensemble. In paper V, impact response surfaces were constructed for the full ensemble of 600 palsa models and evaluated with probabilistic projections of climate change.

3 Results

3.1 Present-day distribution of sub-arctic palsa mires and its climatic factors

The observed palsa distribution map constructed for paper I indicates that 28.5% of the 1913 grid cells contained palsa mires (Figure 1 in paper I). Averages of climatic variables in these grid cells showed clear differences compared to climate in grid cells without palsa mires, with a lower mean annual temperature, lower annual precipitation, a higher number of freezing degree-days and a higher frost number. Climatological thresholds and optima were determined by fitting logistic regression models to individual climate variables in turn. This revealed an optimal range of (long-term) mean annual temperature for northern Fennoscandian palsa mires of between -4.99°C and -2.87°C. The upper threshold, defined with a less than 5% probability of palsa presence for temperature above this threshold, was at -0.33°C. The optimum annual precipitation was less than 445 mm and the threshold value of 720 mm. Thresholds and optima were also determined for other climate variables (Table V and Figure 3 in paper I).

Multivariate climate envelope models had an excellent fit⁴ in terms of evaluation statistics (Table IV in paper I, Table 3 in paper II, Table 3 in paper V) and were able to reproduce the observed distribution of palsa mires (*cf.* Figure 2E in paper I and Figure 3 in paper II).

3.2 Projections of future climate and its representations

Climate change projections for northern Europe employed in this study showed consistent warming that is strongest in winter and increases in annual precipitation throughout the 21st century (Figure 1 in paper III, Figure 3 and 4 in paper IV and Figure 3 in paper V). The projected changes by 2071-2100 relative to 1961-1990 result in changes of climatic indices relevant

⁴ Evaluation statistics were evaluated with approximate accuracy guides for AUC (Swets 1988) and kappa (Monserud & Leemans 1992).

for many sectors and are also characterised by a poleward shift of climatic zones. The northern limits of areas suitable for the cultivation of soya bean and grain maize were estimated to shift between several hundred and 2000 kilometres northwards (paper **III**; see also Olesen *et al.* 2007), the thermal growing season in northern Europe to lengthen by three to twelve weeks (Figure 4 in paper **III**) and a simple index of net primary productivity to increase by up to 50% in northern Europe (Figure 6).

In order to evaluate the effect of climate model bias (see section 1.2) on estimates of impacts, some climatic indices were calculated for the baseline period using RCM output directly. These indicated substantial differences from the results of calculating the indices with observed climate data, though were smaller for indices based only on temperature (Figure 6 in paper III) than for the index of net primary productivity that requires both temperature and precipitation. It also provided strong arguments for applying the delta change method in subsequent analyses. Results for impact indices using RCM-based climate projections showed a close resemblance to those obtained from projections of their bounding GCM. Hence, the range of uncertainty obtained from the ensemble of RCMs did not embrace the full range of future impacts of an ensemble of GCMs that, in principle, could have been used for downscaling (Figure 2 and 4 in paper III). The range of impact estimates was largest when analysing an ensemble of GCMs with four different emission scenarios. This resulted in a range of estimates of suitability expansion for grain maize cultivation of more than 2000 km, while the comparable range for an ensemble of 6 GCMs (assuming only A2 emissions) was less than 700 km (Figure 2 in paper III). The lengthening of the thermal growing season was estimated to be between 3 to 12 weeks for the GCM ensemble with four emission scenarios, while the range estimated with RCM-based scenarios was 4 to 8.5 weeks (up to 7 RCMs with two driving GCMs and A2 and B2 emissions).

Future changes in modelled inter-annual climate variability are seldom investigated in impact studies, due to climate model bias (see above). However, by devising a method of superimposing modelled inter-annual variability onto (unbiased) observed mean climate, this effect could be investigated in relation to grain maize suitability. Projected higher temperature variability was estimated to reduce the zone of reliability for grain maize ripening at the fu-



Figure 6: Net primary productivity computed using Lieth's (1975) empirical relationship a) for observed baseline climate 1961–1990 (g DM m⁻² a⁻¹) and b) simulated changes of a 6-RCM-ensemble-average (SRES A2) for 2071-2100 relative to 1961-1990 (%). The Lieth model does not account for the fertilizing effect of increased atmospheric CO_2 concentrations.



Figure 7: Cooling degree days above 18°C for the Helsinki grid cell for the baseline 1961-1990 (blue) and future 2071-2100 (red) periods. Blue symbols are estimates of means assuming 1961-1990 observed mean temperature and inter-annual variability (IAV, triangle) and observed mean temperature and modelled IAV (circles). Crosses show estimates based on modelled 1961-1990 temperatures. Red symbols are based on modell projections (squares) for 2071-2100. Models are the driving HadAMH/A2 simulation (open symbols) and nine RCMs nested within in (solid symbols). Error bars show 10 and 90 percentiles of the 30-year estimates. This figure is a more detailed close-up for the Helsinki grid cell of Figure 6 in paper III.

ture northern limit of suitability in central and northern Finland compared to the limit with unchanged variability (Figure 3 in paper III). Aspects of variability change were also investigated in relation to energy demand for cooling in some European cities (paper III). The demand at Helsinki was estimated to increase by 3 to 7 times based on RCM-based climate projections from a relatively low level during the baseline period 1961-1990 (Figure 7), although the demand would still remain below present-day levels of central European locations.

3.3 Modelling the impact of climate change on palsa distributions

3.3.1 "Conventional" scenario analysis

The majority of palsa models developed in this study showed a consistent sensitivity to changes in temperature and precipitation with increases (decreases) in either of them resulting in decreases (increases) in the area suitable for palsas (Figure 5 in paper II, Table 4 in paper V). It was estimated that all baseline palsa are-

as become unsuitable with a warming of more than 4°C, whereas some suitable areas still remain even for increases in precipitation of up to 30% (Figure 5 in paper II). The sensitivity of palsa models to joint changes in temperature and precipitation was also depicted in impact response surfaces (Figure 8; Figure 5 in paper IV, Figure 4 in paper V). Projections for the period 2010-2039 with seven GCM-based scenarios and SRES A2 forcing show the palsa area that becomes unsuitable along the edges of the current distribution, with the largest area losses in the north-eastern part north of Lake Inari in northern Finland (Figure 9). The area with the largest number of scenarios projecting remaining palsa suitability in the near-future period, 2010-2039, lies in northernmost Sweden northwest of Kiruna. Further decreases of suitable areas with similar spatial patterns were projected for later periods with all but one scenario for 2070-2099 projecting the total loss of suitable palsa areas. (Figures 6 and 7 in paper II).



Figure 8: Impact response surface showing the change in area suitable for palsa mires (contours in 25% steps from 50% to -100%) for a 25-member ensemble mean of GAM palsa models. Temperature- and precipitation change combination for which the total loss of area suitable for palsa is estimated in shown in dark grey, those that result in at least 50% area reduction in light grey.



Figure 9: Observed palsa presence/absence and number of GCMs for which palsa presence is projected for the period 2010-2039 for an ensemble of 7 GCM simulations with SRES A2 forcing using the GAM palsa model of paper II.

3.3.2 Application of probabilistic climate projections and assessment of uncertainties

Probabilistic projections of climate change were superimposed on impact response surfaces to estimate a distribution of future impacts (Figure 6 in paper IV and Figure 5 in paper V). A comparison of these results to estimates achieved with a "conventional" scenario analysis, but using the same probabilistic climate change projections, showed that the impact response surface approach gives a very similar distribution of impact estimates (Figure 7 in paper IV). The probability that all palsa areas become unsuitable was estimated to increase during the 21st century from estimates of 0% for the earliest periods (1991-2020 in paper IV, 2000-2019 in paper V) to a range of 43% (B1 scenario) to 100% (A2 scenario) at the end of the century (Figure 10). Impact estimates for an ensembles of GCM simulations forced with the E1 mitigation scenario showed a reduced risk of palsa loss by the end of the century compared to A1B forcing, with 7 out of 11 ensembles members resulting in at least some remaining

palsa area, whereas all areas become unsuitable for all ensemble members of the corresponding simulations with A1B forcing (Figure 5 in paper V).

Impact response surfaces constructed for an ensemble of palsa models showed that the choice of the statistical modelling technique affects the range of estimated changes in palsa suitability for changed climatic conditions. While estimates of the parameter uncertainty of GAM palsa models were smallest, ensembles of palsa models constructed with other modelling techniques resulted in a much wider range of impact estimates, with some impact response surfaces not showing decreasing palsa suitability with warming and some palsa areas remaining suitable even for very large temperature increases (Figure 4 and Table 4 in paper **V**). Estimated probabilities of all palsa areas becoming unsuitable by the end of the 21st century range between 0% and 84% across all palsa models, whereas the range of estimates was reduced to 35-84% if only models fulfilling two criteria of model plausibility were considered (Figure 6 in paper V).



Figure 10: Probability of half (lines and boxplots at the top) and all (bottom) palsa areas becoming unsuitable estimated with the impact response surface approach using a resampled 15-GCM ensemble for a single palsa GAM model (lines, based on Paper IV) and the confidence intervals for an ensemble of palsa models combining parameter uncertainty for GAM and initial conditions uncertainty (boxplots, based on paper V).

4 Discussion

The climatic envelope models of northern Fennoscandian palsa mire suitability presented in this study were capable of reproducing the observed distribution of palsas and achieved excellent evaluation statistics based on climate variables alone. Uncertainty in these models was quantified by calibrating an ensemble of 600 palsa models, which is a much larger sample size than commonly applied in envelope modelling studies of a single distribution dataset (Heikkinen *et al.* 2006, Jeschke and Strayer 2008, but see Buisson *et al.* 2010 for an exception). The ensemble of palsa models showed a considerable variation in outcomes when extrapolating across a range of climatic conditions, as revealed when plotting model behaviour as impact response surfaces. Some of the models failed to fulfil two criteria of plausibility that were defined using the impact response surfaces: they did not predict decreases in palsa suitability with warming or they predicted some remaining palsa areas even for large amounts of warming. This was in spite of their general good performance in commonly applied evaluation statistics that measure a model's ability to reproduce the observed spatial distribution, suggesting that these test statistics alone may not be sufficient to judge if a model can be applied with changed climatic conditions.

Even considering the rigorous attempts made to assess the uncertainty of palsa envelope models, some factors were not accounted for that have been recognized as important for the presence of palsas. These include a sufficiently thin snow cover (Seppälä 1982) and non-climatic information such as the presence or absence of a peat layer. Proxies of these can become more important for analysis conducted at a finer scale than the grid cell size of c. 120 km² used in the present study. Finer-scale analysis of palsa distributions has been carried out in Finnish Lapland with topographical and land cover variables calculated for 1 km2 (Luoto and Seppälä 2003) and with topographical and soil variables for 0.25 km² grid cells (Hjort et al. 2007). Bosiö et al. (2012) have applied high resolution (30 arcseconds cell spacing corresponding to a cell size of approx. 1 km²) interpolated climate data to estimate climate suitability for palsas at a set of study sites in northern Fennoscandia, based on threshold values presented in paper I of this study. They related the hummock vegetation types observed at the sites to these suitability measures and then projected this relationship to a wider region similar to that used in this study, using information derived from a land cover map at 1 ha resolution. An example for the effect of grid cell resolution on the outcome of climate envelope models has been presented for mountain plant species distributions by Trivedi et al. (2008). They found that finer scale analysis (5 x 5 km² resolution) resulted in stronger shifts of species ranges than coarser scale analysis (50 x 50 km² resolution). Inaccuracy of the response variable, the presence or absence of palsas within each study grid cell, is another potential source of error that has not directly been addressed in the analysis. The source information of the palsa distribution map could be incomplete or errors in transcribing the information to the gridded map could have occurred.

Projections of the future distribution of palsa mires have been made using climate projections constructed from the output of climate model simulations. These quantify uncertainties in emissions scenarios (inter-scenario variability) and the response of different climate models to these scenarios (inter-model variability) using both conventional ensembles of GCMs and probabilistic projections. A single scenario construction method, the delta-change approach, was applied, although some climate indicators have also been calculated directly with dynamically downscaled projections. The choice of a simple scenario construction method was motivated by the low data requirements of climate envelope models. These typically require only long-term averages of relatively simple climate indicators; transient information about how these evolve over time, including possible changes in variability, cannot directly be processed by these types of static impact models. The choice of an appropriate downscaling method is more complicated for impact models that require climate variables at daily or sub-daily time-steps, or where climate variability change is a focus of analysis.

The palsa climate envelope models assume the palsa distribution to be in equilibrium with current long-term climatic conditions. They do not contain information about the variability of climate over short time-scales, although it is known that degradation of palsas can take place within a few years (Luoto and Seppälä 2003). A possible increase in the inter-annual variability of temperature, as has been demonstrated here for RCM simulations using a temperature-based indicator, could therefore also imply a faster decay of palsas, as years with climate diverging strongly from the long-term mean would be more frequent.

This study also demonstrated how an impact modelling approach could be extended, by constructing impact response surfaces, so that probabilistic projections of climate change can be applied directly to estimate the likelihood of future impacts. Examples of surfaces that plot an impact variable as a function of changes in two climate variables have been presented in the literature for more than two decades (Yoshino et al. 1988, p. 819, Rosenzweig et al. 1996). Jones (2000) suggested to combine such surfaces with probabilistic projections of climate change to estimate the risk of exceeding impact thresholds. This study builds on his idea, but uses more comprehensive projections of climate change than were available at the time when Jones' analysis was conducted, compares results achieved using impact response surfaces with those achieved using more conventional scenario analysis (see paper IV) and expands the approach by dealing with seasonally scaled temperature changes. Impact response surfaces present impact model results with respect to changes in just two climate variables, hence requiring a simplification of most impact models. Here, the palsa models require monthly temperature data, whereas the impact response surfaces are plotted against changes in annual temperature. Despite this simplification, the comparison of results to conventional scenario analysis showed only relatively small differences. Constructing reduced-form impact models from more complex models than the palsa example, that require more climate variables than temperature and precipitation in smaller time steps, would also require more assumptions about how the climate input data is related to the two variables against which impacts are plotted; this could increase the error introduced by using the impact response surfaces.

Impact response surfaces have a number of potential uses and advantages which are schematically illustrated in Figure 11 for a hypothetical example of crop yields (used here to illustrate aspects that do not all apply to the palsa example). Response surfaces allow critical impact thresholds to be plotted for climate changes relative to a reference climate and can help to identify impact discontinuities if these exist (Figure 11A). Uncertainties of impact models can also be displayed by comparing different response surfaces on the same plot (Figure 11B, see also Figure 4 in paper V). Another advantage is that response surfaces can help to identify climate conditions to which a system is vulnerable, independent of a specific climate change scenario, and enable or aid in a "bottom-up" impact assessment in which climatic conditions critical for a certain impact to occur are identified before giving concrete projections for the future using climate scenarios (Brown et al. 2011, Weaver et al. 2013). This allows to identify changes in impact behaviour following adaptation, for example the switch to a different crop variety better suited for warmer conditions, which can be plotted to evaluate advantages gained by adaptation (Figure 11C).

Impact response surfaces, by definition, provide estimates of impacts across a wide range of climatic conditions. An impact estimate can therefore be read off from the surface for any new climate change projection expressed using the same variables, without having to run the impact model again (Figure 11D). Such a "scenario-neutral" approach (Prudhomme et al. 2010) simplifies the evaluation of large climate change ensembles, such as the probabilistic ones used in this study, and allows a rapid assessment of climate change projections for many time-slices and scenarios. Applying probabilistic projections of climate change with the palsa response surfaces also provides an opportunity to estimate the likelihood or risk of palsa loss (cf. Figure 10), in contrast to a conventional impact assessment that produces only a range of possible impacts that are dependent on the set of climate scenarios selected.

The projected decline in northern Fennoscandian palsa mires will directly affect vegetation by modifying hydrological conditions, often resulting in wetter conditions (Malmer *et al.* 2005), and nutrient availability to plants (Keuper *et al.* 2012). In combination with the effects of increased temperatures and CO_2 concentrations in the air, this can increase plant productivity and modify the species composition. Bosiö *et al.* (2012) project that dry hummock vegetation typical for palsas in the study area will increasingly be replaced by wet hummock vegetation. This is also in line with projected vegetation changes in simulations



Fig. 11: Schematic impact response surfaces (IRSs) of a hypothetical impact model illustrating key features and some of potential uses. IRSs depict impact behaviour across a wide range of climate changes relative to a reference climate, so that: critical impact thresholds can be plotted and possible impact discontinuities identified (A); impact model uncertainties can be displayed (B); changes in impact behaviour following adaptation can be plotted to evaluate advantages gained by adaptation (C); and different climate change projections can be overlaid to allow a rapid assessment of impacts or of impact risks where probabilistic projections are applied (D). The IRSs shown could be for average crop yields (in t/ha) and a possible adaptation option (C) could be the switch to a different crop variety. The colour shading of the probabilistic projection in D illustrates the probability distribution with red indicating higher probability than yellow.

with a dynamic vegetation model that indicate shifts from one vegetation type to another in large parts of northern Fennoscandia (Hickler *et al.* 2012). Effects on the regional carbon balance of palsa mires depend on local conditions (e.g. Hugelius *et al.* 2011), and the answer to the question if a palsa mire becomes significant sink or source of carbon remain uncertain (Bosiö *et al.* 2012, Olefeldt *et al.* 2012). Changes in the mire hydrology and vegetation can also reduce the habitat availability for bird species that have palsa mires as one of their preferred nesting habitats. Reductions in bird population have been observed for mire- and wetland-loving species of the north over recent decades (Virkkala and Rajasärkkä 2012) and these reductions are projected to continue into the future (Virkkala *et al.* 2008).

5 Conclusions

This study has offered an assessment of several sources of uncertainty in climate change impact assessment, using the case study of subarctic palsa mires. The main conclusions to be drawn from the results of this work are as follows, grouped by the three themes of the thesis:

Modelling the effects of climate on the distribution of palsas and associated uncertainties

- 1. The present-day spatial distribution of palsa mires in northern Fennoscandia can be largely explained by climatological variables alone.
- 2. Palsa mires are sensitive to changes in climate. Increasing temperature and precipitation will decrease the extent of the palsa distribution.
- 3. Metrics of climate envelope model performance that are commonly applied are not sufficient to evaluate the performance of model extrapolations with climate change scenarios. Impact response surfaces can help to evaluate models; this was demonstrated by defining two additional plausibility criteria that related to knowledge of the processes being modelled. It is recommended that such procedures be followed prior to an impact model's application with climate scenarios. Applying these plausibility criteria with an ensemble of palsa models demonstrated that structural differences appeared to be a major source of impact model uncertainty.

Representing future climate in impact studies

4. The results of climate change impact analysis can be strongly influenced by the methods of constructing projections of future climate. This study compared a simple delta change approach with several ensembles of GCM simulations with dynamically downscaled projections. The possible additional value of RCM-based compared to GCM-based scenarios depends on the impact study. Although RCM projections are dependent upon the GCMs they were nested within, systematic differences between RCMs and their driving GCM were detected for many regions in Europe. However, RCM-based scenarios alone are unlikely to embrace a representative range of possible future climate as long as ensembles are available only for a limited number of driving GCMs.

5. Probabilistic projections of climate change offer the opportunity to express future impacts in terms of risk, but they also present a substantial computational challenge to impact modellers. The impact response surface approach demonstrated in this study can considerably reduce the number of impact model simulations required for a probabilistic assessment; especially when climate projections for many scenarios and time periods are being analysed.

Projecting impacts of future climate change on palsa distributions

- Projections with climate scenarios implied 6. a considerable loss of palsas already in the early decades of the 21st century and a high risk of total palsa loss by the end of the century. The risk of more than half the current palsa areas becoming unsuitable was quantified as very likely (>90% probability) for periods from 2030-2049 onwards and the risk of all areas becoming unsuitable as *likely* (>66% probability, 90% confidence) by 2080-2099 for the moderate A1B emission scenario. The risk was higher for the high A2 emission scenario and reduced for the lower B1 emission and the E1 mitigation scenarios, although these too implied a considerable reduction in palsa areas.
- 7. An increase in mean annual temperature of more than 4°C relative to 1961-1990 was estimated to result in the loss of all palsas in northern Fennoscandia. This was projected to occur with a smaller amount of warming, if precipitation increases at the same time.

Future work on the topics of this thesis could include an application of the presented palsa models to areas outside northern Fennoscandia. An extrapolation of the models to the northern hemisphere would be relatively easy to implement with existing global climate databases. To be able to validate such extrapolations, it would be useful to gather more detailed information on the observed distributions of palsas in North America and Russia. Another possible use of the palsa models would be to apply them with paleoclimatic conditions from cooler periods of the Holocene and compare the predicted palsa suitability with presumed relict palsa formations in central Europe and elsewhere (Gurney 2000, Pissart 2002).

The impact response surface approach presented in this thesis has been used to evaluate the plausibility of impact model extrapolations and to combine impact estimates with probabilistic projections of climate change to quantify impact risks. This approach could potentially be applied in a wide range of model-based climate change impact studies. It would be interesting to develop other case studies with climate envelope models of species or habitat distributions to try to define similar criteria of model plausibility to those presented here for the palsa models. Such criteria could be based, for example, on species traits. Climate envelope models are mostly being evaluated purely on the basis of evaluation statistics, such as AUC and Kappa, which compare model projections to observations, the latter usually not being truly independent from the observations used for model calibration. As was demonstrated in this thesis, model extrapolation may nevertheless be unreliable despite showing good values in evaluation statistics. Impact response surfaces can help to conduct more rigorous tests of model behaviour, hence making impact estimates more reliable.

The approach can also be used with more complex impact models that require daily input data and other climate variables than only temperature and precipitation. One of the challenges here is how the more complex input data can be mapped to a 2-dimensional space of climate variables that are used to span the impact response surface. Some examples have already been developed with dynamic crop (Ferrise *et al.* 2011, Børgesen and Olesen 2011) and hydrological (Prudhomme *et al.* 2010, Weiß 2011, Wetterhall *et al.* 2011) models, in which early attempts to tackle these challenges are presented. A further step would then be to analyse, in addition, aspects of impact model uncertainty with more complex models (cf. Rötter *et al.* 2011). By using a less demanding modelling approach in terms of input data and computational power requirements, this study can serve as an example.

6 Acknowledgements

This work was carried out at the Finnish Environment Institute. Financial support of different stages of this work has been received from the Academy of Finland, the Nordic Council of Ministers, the European Commission and the Finnish Environment Institute.

I express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Timothy Carter whose ideas for research had influenced and directed my research. His relentless encouragement and support were essential for carrying out this work. Prof. Pekka Kauppi was the second supervisor and has supported and encouraged me in numerous ways along the years. I thank my co-authors Prof. Miska Luoto, Dr Jouni Räisänen, Leena Ruokalainen and Dr Frida Zuidhoff for great teamwork. Miska was also the one who introduced me to palsas and suggested them as a topic for climate change research. I thank the pre-examiners of this work, Prof. Jan Hjort and Dr Tarmo Virtanen, for their kind words and useful comments, which helped to improve this overview, and Dr Pam Berry for accepting the invitation to act as the opponent in my doctoral defence. Dr Risto Heikkinen provided advice and constructive discussion. Prof. Mikael Hildén and Prof. Martin Forsius led the units at the Finnish Environment Institute in which I had carried out the work for this thesis, the Climate Change Programme and the Research Programme on Global Change (until 2009), both in which exists a wonderful and open working

atmosphere. I also thank Ms. Ritva Koskinen for an excellent job in preparing the layout for this summary.

I am thankful for the collaboration, interesting discussions, input and support from the following persons: Dr Maria Holmberg, Ms. Nina Pirttioja, Prof Raimo Virkkala from the Finnish Environment Insitute; Dr Kirsti Jylhä, Dr Kimmo Ruosteenoja and Dr Heikki Tuomenvirta from the Finnish Meteorological Institute, Prof. Reimund Rötter from MTT Agrifood Research Finland and Prof. Annikki Mäkelä from the University of Helsinki.

Finally, I am very grateful to my friends and family for their support. The biggest thanks goes to my wife Elina, for translating an early version of the abstract of this work to Finnish, for bringing me to Finland in the first place, and simply for being, and to our children Leo, liris and Seela.

References

- Aapala K.H. & Aapala K.R. 2006. Etymology of some Finnish words for mire. In: Lindholm T. & Heikkilä R. (eds.), *Finland - land of mires*, Finnish Environment Institute, Helsinki, pp. 263–266.
- ACIA. 2005. Arctic Climate Impact Assessment. Cambridge University Press, 1042p.
- Åhman R. 1977. Palsar i Nordnorge (in Norwegian, summary in English: Palsas in northern Norway). Meddelanden från Lunds Universitets Geografiska Institution 78: 1–165.
- Åkerman H.J. 1982. Observations of palsas within the continuous permafrost zone in eastern Siberia and in Svalbard. *Geografisk Tidsskrift* 82: 45–51.
- Åkerman H.J. & Johansson M. 2008. Thawing permafrost and thicker active layers in sub-arctic Sweden. *Perma*frost and Periglacial Processes 19: 279–292.
- Alcamo J., Moreno J.M., Novaky B., Bindi M., Corobov R., Devoy R., Giannakopoulos C., Martin E., Olesen J.E. & Shvidenko A. 2007. Europe. In: Parry M., Canziani O., Palutikof J., Hanson C. & Linden P. van der (eds.), Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 541–580.
- AMAP. 2011. Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA): Climate Change and the Cryosphere. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway, xii + 538 pp.

- An W. & Allard M. 1995. A mathematical approach to modelling palsa formation: Insights on processes and growth conditions. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* 23: 231–244.
- Anon. 2007. Interpretation manual of European Union habitats - EUR 27. European Commission, DG Environment, Nature and biodiversity, Brussels, Belgium. URL http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/ legislation/habitatsdirective/docs/2007_07_im.pdf (assessed 4 December 2007).
- Arrhenius S. 1896. On the Influence of Carbonic Acid in the Air upon the Temperature of the Ground. *Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, Fifth Series* 41: 237–276.
- Bäckstrand K., Crill P.M., Jackowicz-Korczyński M., Mastepanov M., Christensen T.R. & Bastviken D. 2010. Annual carbon gas budget for a subarctic peatland, Northern Sweden. *Biogeosciences* 7: 95–108.
- Barcan V.S. 2010. Stability of palsa at the southern margin of its distribution on the Kola Peninsula. *Polar Science* 4: 489–495.
- Barriopedro D., Fischer E.M., Luterbacher J., Trigo R.M. & Garcia-Herrera R. 2011. The Hot Summer of 2010: Redrawing the Temperature Record Map of Europe. *Science* 332: 220–224.
- Beilman D.W., Vitt D.H. & Halsey L.A. 2001. Localized permafrost peatlands in western Canada: definition, distributions and degradation. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research* 33: 70–77.
- Beniston M. 2004. The 2003 heat wave in Europe: A shape of things to come? An analysis based on Swiss climatological data and model simulations. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 31: doi: 10.1029/2003GL01885.
- Benson B.J., Magnuson J.J., Jensen O.P., Card V.M., Hodgkins G., Korhonen J., Livingstone D.M., Stewart K.M., Weyhenmeyer G.A. & Granin N.G. 2012. Extreme events, trends, and variability in Northern Hemisphere lake-ice phenology (1855–2005). *Climatic Change* 112: 299–323.
- Bhend J. & Storch H. 2008. Consistency of observed winter precipitation trends in northern Europe with regional climate change projections. *Climate Dynamics* 31: 17–28.
- Børgesen C.D. & Olesen J.E. 2011. A probabilistic assessment of climate change impacts on yield and nitrogen leaching from winter wheat in Denmark. *Natural Haz*ards and Earth System Science 11: 2541–2553.
- Bosiö J., Johansson M., Callaghan T.V., Johansen B. & Christensen T.R. 2012. Future vegetation changes in thawing subarctic mires and implications for greenhouse gas exchange—a regional assessment. *Climatic Change* 115: 379–398.
- Brohan P., Kennedy J.J., Harris I., Tett S.F.B. & Jones P.D. 2006. Uncertainty estimates in regional and global observed temperature changes: A new data set from 1850. Journal of Geophysical Research 111.
- Brooks C.E.P. 1943. Interpolation tables for daily values of meteorological elements. *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society* 69: 160–162.
- Brown C., Werick W., Leger W. & Fay D. 2011. A Decision-Analytic Approach to Managing Climate Risks: Application to the Upper Great Lakes1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association 47: 524–534.

- Buisson L., Thuiller W., Casajus N., Lek S. & Grenouillet G. 2010. Uncertainty in ensemble forecasting of species distribution. *Global Change Biology* 16: 1145–1157.
- CAFF (Conservation of Arctic Flora and Fauna). 2001. Arctic Flora and Fauna: Status and Conservation. Edita, Helsinki, Finland, pp. 272.
- Callaghan T.V., Johansson M., Anisimov O.A., Christiansen H.H., Instanes A., Romanovsky V.E., Smith S., Allard M., Chapin F.S., Christensen T.R., Etzelmüller B., Fronzek S., Gilichinsky D., Hinzman L., Hubberten H.W., Humlum O., Jorgensen M.T., Kuhry P., Lewkowicz A., Marchenko S.S., McGuire A.D., Murton J.B., Oberman N.G., Overduin P., Parsons M., Reneva S.A., Schuur E.A.G., Semiletov I., Shakhova N., Shiklomanov N., Velichko A.A. & Zhang Y. 2011. Changing Permafrost and its Impacts. In: AMAP (ed.), *Snow, water, ice and permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA)*, Oslo, Norway, Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), pp. 5–(1–62).
- Camill P. 2005. Permafrost thaw accelerates in boreal peatlands during late-20th century climate warming. *Climatic Change* 68: 135–152.
- Carter T.R. 2001. 38 Uncertainties in Assessing the Impacts of Regional Climate Change. In: Brunet India M. & Lopéz Bonillo D. (eds.), *Detecting and Modelling Regional Climate Change*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, pp. 441–469.
- Carter T.R., Jones R.N., Lu X., Bhadwal S., Conde C., Mearns L.O., O'Neill B.C., Rounsevell M.D.A. & Zurek M.B. 2007. New Assessment Methods and the Characterisation of Future Conditions. In: Parry M.L., Canziani O.F., Palutikof J.P., Linden P.J. van der & Hanson C.E. (eds.), Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 133–171.
- Chmielewski F. & Rötzer T. 2002. Annual and spatial variability of the beginning of growing season in Europe in relation to air temperature changes. *Climate Research* 19: 257–264.
- Christensen J., Carter T., Rummukainen M. & Amanatidis G. 2007a. Evaluating the performance and utility of regional climate models: the PRUDENCE project. *Climatic Change* 81 (Suppl. 1): 1–6.
- Christensen J.H., Hewitson B., Busuioc A., Chen A., Gao X., Held I., Jones R., Kolli R.K., Kwon W.-T., Laprise R., Rueda V.M., Mearns L., Menéndez C.G., Räisänen J., Rinke A., Sarr A. & Whetton P. 2007b. Regional Climate Projections. In: Solomon S., Qin D., Manning M., Chen Z., Marquis M., Averyt K.B., Tignor M. & Miller H.L. (eds.), Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, Chapter 11, pp. 847–940.
- Christensen T.R., Johansson T., Åkermann H.J. & Mastepanov M. 2004. Thawing of sub-arctic permafrost: Effects on vegetation and methane emissions. *Geophysical Research Letters* 31: L04501.

- Christiansen H.H., Etzelmüller B., Isaksen K., Juliussen H., Farbrot H., Humlum O., Johansson M., Ingeman-Nielsen T., Kristensen L., Hjort J., Holmlund P., Sannel A.B.K., Sigsgaard C., Åkerman H.J., Foged N., Blikra L.H., Pernosky M.A. & Ødegård R.S. 2010. The thermal state of permafrost in the nordic area during the international polar year 2007-2009. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes* 21: 156–181.
- Déqué M., Rowell D., Lüthi D., Giorgi F., Christensen J., Rockel B., Jacob D., Kjellström E., Castro M. de & Hurk B. van den. 2007. An intercomparison of regional climate simulations for Europe: assessing uncertainties in model projections. *Climatic Change* 81: 53–70.
- Dionne J.-C. 1984. Palses et limite méridionale du pergélisol dans l'hémisphère nord: le cas de Blanc-Sablon, Québec. Géographie physique et Quaternaire 38: 165.
- Doolittle J.A., Hardisky M.A. & Black S. 1992. A Ground-Penetrating Radar Study of Goodream Palsas, Newfoundland, Canada. Arctic and Alpine Research 24: 173–178.
- Downing T.E., Harrison P.A., Butterfield R.E. & Lonsdale K.G. 2000. Climate Change, Climatic Variability and Agriculture in Europe: An Integrated Assessment. Environmental Change Unit, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK, pp. 448.
- EEA. 2012. Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe 2012. European Environment Agency (EEA), Copenhagen, pp. 300.
- Ferrise R., Moriondo M. & Bindi M. 2011. Probabilistic assessments of climate change impacts on durum wheat in the Mediterranean region. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science* 11: 1293–1302.
- Fowler H.J., Blenkinsop S. & Tebaldi C. 2007. Linking climate change modelling to impacts studies: recent advances in downscaling techniques for hydrological modelling. *International Journal of Climatology* 27: 1547–1578.
- Frieler K., Meinshausen M., Mengel M., Braun N. & Hare W. 2012. A Scaling Approach to Probabilistic Assessment of Regional Climate Change. *Journal of Climate* 25: 3117–3144.
- Fronzek S., Carter T.R. & Jylhä K. 2012. Representing two centuries of past and future climate for assessing risks to biodiversity in Europe. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 21: 19–35.
- Guisan A. & Zimmermann N.E. 2000. Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. *Ecological Modelling* 135: 147–186.
- Gurney S.D. 2000. Relict Cryogenic Mounds in the UK as Evidence of Climate Change. In: McLaren S.J. & Kniveton D.R. (eds.), *Linking Climate Change to Land Surface Change*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 209–229.
- Harris G.R., Collins M., Sexton D.M.H., Murphy J.M. & Booth B.B.B. 2010. Probabilistic projections for 21st century European climate. *Natural Hazards Earth System Sciences* 10: 2009–2020.
- Heikkinen R.K., Luoto M., Araújo M.B., Virkkala R., Thuiller W. & Sykes M.T. 2006. Methods and uncertainties in bioclimatic envelope modelling under climate change. *Progress in Physical Geography* 30: 751–777.

- Hickler T., Vohland K., Feehan J., Miller P.A., Smith B., Costa L., Giesecke T., Fronzek S., Carter T.R., Cramer W., Kühn I. & Sykes M.T. 2012. Projecting the future distribution of European potential natural vegetation zones with a generalized, tree species-based dynamic vegetation model. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 21: 50–63.
- Hjort J. & Luoto M. 2013. 2.6 Statistical Methods for Geomorphic Distribution Modeling. In: Shroder J. & Baas A.C.W. (eds.), *Treatise on Geomorphology*, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 59–73.
- Hjort J., Luoto M. & Seppälä M. 2007. Landscape scale determinants of periglacial features in subarctic Finland: a grid-based modelling approach. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes* 18: 115–127.
- Hofgaard N. 2003. Effects on Climate Change on the Distribution and Development of Palsa Peatlands: Background and Suggestions for a National Monitoring Project. Trondheim, Norway, pp. 34.
- Hugelius G., Virtanen T., Kaverin D., Pastukhov A., Rivkin F., Marchenko S., Romanovsky V. & Kuhry P. 2011. High-resolution mapping of ecosystem carbon storage and potential effects of permafrost thaw in periglacial terrain, European Russian Arctic. *Journal* of *Geophysical Research* 116: G03024.
- IPCC. 1994. IPCC Technical Guidelines for Assessing Climate Change Impacts and Adaptations Carter T.R., Parry M.L., Harasawa H. & Nishioka S. (eds.). Department of Geography, University College London, UK and the Center for Global Environmental Research, National Institute for Environmental Studies, Japan, pp. 59.
- IPCC. 2001. Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Houghton, J.T.,Y. Ding, D.J. Griggs, M. Noguer, P.J. van der Linden, X. Dai, K. Maskell, and C.A. Johnson (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 881.
- IPCC. 2007. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In: Solomon S., Qin D., Manning M., Chen Z., Marquis M., Averyt K.B., Tignor M. & Miller H.L. (eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 996.
- Jacob D., Bärring L., Christensen O., Christensen J., Castro M. de, Déqué M., Giorgi F., Hagemann S., Hirschi M., Jones R., Kjellström E., Lenderink G., Rockel B., Sánchez E., Schär C., Seneviratne S., Somot S., Ulden A. van & Hurk B. van den. 2007. An inter-comparison of regional climate models for Europe: model performance in present-day climate. *Climatic Change* 81: 31–52.
- Jankovskà V., Andreev A.A. & Panova N.K. 2006. Holocene environmental history on the eastern slope of the Polar Ural Mountains, Russia. *Boreas* 35: 650–661.
- Järvinen O. 1979. Geographical gradients of stability in European land bird communities. *Oecologia* 38: 51–69.
- Järvinen O. & Väisänen R.A. 1976. Species diversity of Finnish birds, II: biotopes at the transition between taiga and tundra. *Acta Zoologica Fennica* 145: 1–35.
- Jeschke J.M. & Strayer D.L. 2008. Usefulness of Bioclimatic Models for Studying Climate Change and Invasive Species. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1134: 1–24.

- Johns T., Royer J.F., Höschel I., Huebener H., Roeckner E., Manzini E., May W., Dufresne J.L., Otterå O., Vuuren D. van, Salas y Melia D., Giorgetta M., Denvil S., Yang S., Fogli P., Körper J., Tjiputra J., Stehfest E. & Hewitt C. 2011. Climate change under aggressive mitigation: the ENSEMBLES multi-model experiment. *Climate Dynamics* 37: 1975–2003.
- Jones R.N. 2000. Managing Uncertainty in Climate Change Projections – Issues for Impact Assessment. *Climatic Change* 45: 403–419.
- Jones P. 2012. CRU Information Sheet no. 1: Global Temperature Record. http://www.cru.uea.ac.uk/cru/ info/warming/, assessed 29 May 2012.
- Jylhä K., Ruosteenoja K., Räisänen J., Venäläinen A., Tuomenvirta H., Ruokolainen L., Saku S. & Seitola S. 2009. Aroioita Suomen muuttuvasta ilmastosta sopeutumis-tutkimuksia varten. ACCLIM-hankkeen raportti 2009 (The changing climate in Finland: estimates for adaptation studies. ACCLIM project report 2009.). Ilmatieteen laitos, Helsinki, pp. 102.
- Kauppi P. & Posch M. 1985. Sensitivity of boreal forests to possible climatic warming. *Climatic Change* 7: 45–54.
- Keuper F., Bodegom P.M., Dorrepaal E., Weedon J.T., Hal J., Logtestijn R.S.P. & Aerts R. 2012. A frozen feast: thawing permafrost increases plant-available nitrogen in subarctic peatlands. *Global Change Biology* 18: 1998–2007.
- Kirpotin S., Polishchuk Y., Bryksina N., Sugaipova A., Kouraev A., Zakharova E., Pokrovsky O.S., Shirokova L., Kolmakova M., Manassypov R. & Dupre B. 2011. West Siberian palsa peatlands: distribution, typology, cyclic development, present day climate-driven changes, seasonal hydrology and impact on CO2 cycle. International Journal of Environmental Studies 68: 603–623.
- Kneisel C., Saemundsson P. & Beylich A.A. 2007. Reconnaissance surveys of contemporary permafrost environments in central Iceland using geoelectrical methods: implications for permafrost degradation and sediment fluxes. *Geografiska Annaler, Series A: Physical Geography* 89: 41–50.
- Kujala K., Seppälä M. & Holappa T. 2008. Physical properties of peat and palsa formation. *Cold Regions Science* and Technology 52: 408–414.
- Lehikoinen A., Saurola P., Byholm P., Lindén A. & Valkama J. 2010. Life history events of the Eurasian sparrowhawk Accipiter nisus in a changing climate. *Journal of Avian Biology* 41: 627–636.
- Lieth H. 1975. Modeling the Primary Productivity of the World. In: Lieth H. & Whittaker R.H. (eds.), *Primary Productivity of the Biosphere*, Springer, New York, pp. 237–263.
- Linden P. van der & Mitchell J.F.B. 2009. ENSEMBLES: Climate Change and its Impacts: Summary of research and results from the ENSEMBLES project. Met Office Hadley Centre, FitzRoy Road, Exeter EX1 3PB, UK, pp. 160.
- Linkosalo T., Häkkinen R., Terhivuo J., Tuomenvirta H. & Hari P. 2009. The time series of flowering and leaf bud burst of boreal trees (1846–2005) support the direct temperature observations of climatic warming. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 149: 453–461.
- Luoto M., Heikkinen R.K. & Carter T.R. 2004. Loss of palsa mires in Europe and biological consequences. *Environmental Conservation* 31: 1–8.

- Luoto M. & Hjort J. 2004. Evaluation of current statistical approaches for predictive geomorphological mapping. *Geomorphology* 67: 299–315.
- Luoto M. & Seppälä M. 2003. Thermokarst ponds as indicators of the former distribution of palsas in Finnish Lapland. Permafrost and Periglacial Processes 14: 19–27.
- Malmer N., Johansson T., Olsrud M. & Christensen T.R. 2005. Vegetation, climatic changes and net carbon sequestration in a North-Scandinavian subarctic mire over 30 years. *Global Change Biology* 11: 1895–1909.
- Marmion M., Hjort J., Thuiller W. & Luoto M. 2008. A comparison of predictive methods in modelling the distribution of periglacial landforms in Finnish Lapland. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* 33: 2241–2254.
- Matthews J.A., Dahl S.-O., Berrisford M.S. & Nesje A. 1997. Cyclic development and thermokarstic degradation of palsas in the mid-alpine zone at Leirpullan, Dovrefjell, Southern Norway. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes* 8: 107–122.
- Mearns L.O., Giorgi F., Whetton P., Pabon D., Hulme M. & Lal M. 2003. Guidelines for use of climate scenarios developed from Regional Climate Model experiments. Supporting material of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), prepared on behalf of Task Group on Data and Scenario Support for Impacts and Climate Analysis (TGICA), pp. 38.
- Meehl G.A., Covey C., Delworth T., Latif M., McAvaney B., Mitchell J.F.B., Stouffer R.J. & Taylor K.E. 2007a. The WCRP CMIP3 Multimodel Dataset: A New Era in Climate Change Research. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 88: 1383–1394.
- Meehl G., Stocker T., Collins W., Friedlingstein P., Gaye A., Gregory J., Kitoh A., Knutti R., Murphy J., Noda A., Raper S., Watterson I., Weaver A. & Zhao Z.-C. 2007b. Global climate projections. In: Solomon S., Qin D., Manning M., Chen Z., Marquis M., Averyt K., Tignor M. & Miller H. (eds.), Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 748–845.
- Menzel A., Sparks T.H., Estrella N., Koch E., Aasa A., Ahas R., Alm-Kübler K., Bissolli P., Braslavská O., Briede A., Chmielewski F.M., Crepinsek Z., Curnel Y., Dahl Å., Defila C., Donnelly A., Filella Y., Jatczak K., Måge F., Mestre A., Nordli Ø., Peñuelas J., Pirinen P., Remišová V., Scheifinger H., Striz M., Susnik A., Vliet A.J.H. Van, Wielgolaski F.-E., Zach S. & Zust A. 2006. European phenological response to climate change matches the warming pattern. *Global Change Biology* 12: 1969–1976.
- Mitchell T.D., Carter T.R., Jones P.D., Hulme M. & New M. 2004. A comprehensive set of high-resolution grids of monthly climate for Europe and the globe: the observed record (1901-2000) and 16 scenarios (2001-2100). *Tyndall Centre Working Paper* 55.
- Mitchell T.D. & Jones P.D. 2005. An improved method of constructing a database of monthly climate observations and associated high-resolution grids. *Int. J. Climatol.* 25: 693–712.

- Mitikka V., Heikkinen R.K., Luoto M., Araújo M.B., Saarinen K., Pöyry J. & Fronzek S. 2008. Predicting range expansion of the map butterfly in Northern Europe using bioclimatic models. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 17: 623–641.
- Monserud R.A. & Leemans R. 1992. Comparing global vegetation maps with the kappa statistic. *Ecological Modelling* 62: 275–293.
- Murphy J.M., Sexton D.M.H., Barnett D.N., Jones G.S., Webb M.J. & co-authors. 2004. Quantification of modelling uncertainties in a large ensemble of climate change simulations. *Nature* 430: 768–772.
- Nakićenović N., Alcamo J., Davis G., Fries B. de, Fenhann J., Gaffin S., Gregory K., Grübler A., Jung T.Y., Kram T., Rovere E.L. La, Michaelis L., Mori S., Morita T., Pepper W., Pitcher H., Price L., Raihi K., Roehrl A., Rogner H.-H., Sankovski A., Schlesinger M., Shukla P., Smith S., Swart R., Rooijen S. von, Victor N. & Dadi Z. 2000. *Emissions Scenarios. A Special Report of Working Group* III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 599.
- New M., Hulme M. & Jones P. 1999. Representing Twentieth-Century Space–Time Climate Variability. Part I: Development of a 1961–90 Mean Monthly Terrestrial Climatology. Journal of Climate 12: 829–856.
- Oksanen P.O., Kuhry P. & Alekseeva R.N. 2003. Holocene development and permafrost history of the Usinsk mire, Northeast European Russia. *Géographie physique et Quaternaire* 57: 169–187.
- Oksanen P.O. & Väliranta M. 2006. Palsasuot muuttuvassa ilmastossa (Palsa mires in a changing climate). *Suo* 57: 33–43.
- Olefeldt D., Roulet N.T., Bergeron O., Crill P., Bäckstrand K. & Christensen T.R. 2012. Net carbon accumulation of a high-latitude permafrost palsa mire similar to permafrost-free peatlands. *Geophysical Research Letters* 39: L03501.
- Olesen J.E., Carter T.R., Díaz-Ambrona C.H., Fronzek S., Heidmann T., Hickler T., Holt T., Minguez-Tuleda M.I., Morales P., Palutikov J., Quemada M., Ruiz-Ramos M., Rubæk G.H., Sau F., Smith B. & Sykes M. 2007. Uncertainties in projected impacts of climate change on European agriculture, forestry and ecosystems based on scenarios from regional climate models. *Climatic Change* 81(Supplement 1): 123–143.
- Parmesan C. 2007. Influences of species, latitudes and methodologies on estimates of phenological response to global warming. *Global Change Biology* 13: 1860– 1872.
- Payette S., Delwaide A., Caccianiga M. & Beauchemin M. 2004. Accelerated thawing of subarctic peatland permafrost over the last 50 years. *Geophysical Research Letters* 31: L18208.
- Pissart A. 2002. Palsas, lithalsas and remnants of these periglacial mounds. A progress report. *Progress in Physical Geography* 26: 605–621.
- Post E., Forchhammer M.C., Bret-Harte M.S., Callaghan T.V., Christensen T.R., Elberling B., Fox A.D., Gilg O., Hik D.S., Høye T.T., Ims R.A., Jeppesen E., Klein D.R., Madsen J., McGuire A.D., Rysgaard S., Schindler D.E., Stirling I., Tamstorf M.P., Tyler N.J.C., Wal R. van der, Welker J., Wookey P.A., Schmidt N.M. & Aastrup P. 2009. Ecological Dynamics Across the Arctic Associated with Recent Climate Change. *Science* 325: 1355 –1358.

- Prudhomme C., Wilby R.L., Crooks S., Kay A.L. & Reynard N.S. 2010. Scenario-neutral approach to climate change impact studies: Application to flood risk. *Journal of Hydrology* 390: 198–209.
- Räisänen J. & Ruokolainen L. 2006. Probabilistic forecasts of near-term climate change based on a resampling ensemble technique. *Tellus* 58A: 461–472.
- Randall D.A., Wood R.A., Bony S., Colman R., Fichefet T., Fyfe J., Kattsov V., Pitman A., Shukla J., Srinivasan J., Stouffer R.J., Sumi A. & Taylor K.E. 2007. Climate models and their evaluation. In: Solomon S., Qin D., Manning M., Chen Z., Marquis M., Averyt K.B., M.Tignor & Miller H.L. (eds.), *Climate Change* 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 589–662.
- Rosenzweig C., Phillips J., Goldberg R., Carroll J. & Hodges T. 1996. Potential impacts of climate change on citrus and potato production in the US. *Agricultural Systems* 52: 455–479.
- Rötter R.P., Carter T.R., Olesen J.E. & Porter J.R. 2011. Crop-climate models need an overhaul. *Nature Climate Change* 1: 175–177.
- Rounsevell M.D.A. & Metzger M.J. 2010. Developing qualitative scenario storylines for environmental change assessment. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change* 1: 606–619.
- Ruosteenoja K., Tuomenvirta H. & Jylhä K. 2007. GCMbased regional temperature and precipitation change estimates for Europe under four SRES scenarios applying a super-ensemble pattern-scaling method. *Climatic Change* 81 (Suppl. 1): 193–208.
- Saku S., Solantie R., Jylhä K., Venäläinen A. & Valta H. 2011. Äärilämpötilojen alueellinen vaihtelu Suomessa (Spatial variations of extreme temperatures in Finland). *FMI Reports* 2011, pp. 92.
- Schär C., Vidale P.L., Lüthi D., Frei C., Häberli C., Liniger M.A. & Appenzeller C. 2004. The role of increasing temperature variability in European summer heatwaves. *Nature* 427: 332–336.
- Schneider S.H. 1983. CO2, Climate and Society: A Brief Overview. In: Chen R.S., Boulding E. & Schneider S.H. (eds.), Social Science Research and Climate Change: An Interdisciplinary Appraisal, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, Holland, pp. 9–15.
- Schröter A. 2011. Review of the distribution of Somatochlora sahlbergi (Odonata: Corduliidae). International Dragonfly Fund Report 41: 1–27.
- Schuur E.A.G., Bockheim J., Canadell J.G., Euskirchen E., Field C.B., Goryachkin S.V., Hagemann S., Kuhry P., Lafleur P.M., Lee H., Mazhitova G., Nelson F.E., Rinke A., Romanovsky V.E., Shiklomanov N., Tarnocai C., Venevsky S., Vogel J.G. & Zimov S.A. 2008. Vulnerability of Permafrost Carbon to Climate Change: Implications for the Global Carbon Cycle. *BioScience* 58: 701.
- Screen J.A., Deser C. & Simmonds I. 2012. Local and remote controls on observed Arctic warming. *Geophysical Research Letters* 39.
- Seppälä M. 1982. An experimental study of the formation of palsas. In: Proceedings, fourth Canadian Permafrost Conference, National Research Council of Canada, Ottawa, pp. 36–42.

- Seppälä M. 1986. The origin of palsas. *Geografiska Annaler* 68A: 141–147.
- Seppälä M. 1988. Palsas and related forms. In: Clark M.J. (ed.), Advances in Periglacial Geomorphology, John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, pp. 247–278.
- Seppälä M. 2011. Synthesis of studies of palsa formation underlining the importance of local environmental and physical characteristics. *Quaternary Research* 75: 366–370.
- Shibata H., Tateyama K., Enomoto H. & Takahashi S. 2011. Interannual changes in sea-ice conditions on the Arctic Sea Route obtained by satellite microwave data. *Annals of Glaciology* 52: 237–247.
- Siegenthaler U., Stocker T.F., Monnin E., Lüthi D., Schwander J., Stauffer B., Raynaud D., Barnola J.-M., Fischer H., Masson-Delmotte V. & Jouzel J. 2005. Stable Carbon Cycle-Climate Relationship During the Late Pleistocene. *Science* 310: 1313–1317.
- Sollid J.L. & Sørbel L. 1998. Palsa bogs as a climatic indicator - examples from Dovrefjell, Southern Norway. *Ambio* 27: 287–291.
- Sone T. 2002. Internal Structure of a Palsa in the Bog to the South of Mt. Hiragatake, the Daisetsu Mountains, Hokkaido, Japan. *Journal of Geography* 111: 546–554.
- Stroeve J.C., Serreze M.C., Holland M.M., Kay J.E., Malanik J. & Barrett A.P. 2012. The Arctic's rapidly shrinking sea ice cover: a research synthesis. *Climatic Change* 110: 1005–1027.
- Swets K. 1988. Measuring the accuracy of diagnostic systems. Science 240: 1285–1293.
- Sykles E. & Vanchig G. 2007. Palsa fields and cryoplanation terraces, Hangay Nuruu, central Mongolia. In: 20th Annual Keck Symposium Proceedings, Keck Geology Consortium, Wooster, Ohio, pp. 49–53.
- Thie J. 1974. Distribution and Melting of Permafrost in the Southern Part of the Discontinuous Permafrost Zone in Manitoba. *Arctic, Journal of the Arctic Institute* of North America 27: 189–200.
- Thórhallsdóttir T.E. 1994. Effects of Changes in Groundwater Level on Palsas in Central Iceland. *Geografiska Annaler. Series A, Physical Geography* 76: 161–167.
- Tietäväinen H., Tuomenvirta H. & Venäläinen A. 2010. Annual and seasonal mean temperatures in Finland during the last 160 years based on gridded temperature data. *International Journal of Climatology* 30: 2247–2256.
- Trivedi M.R., Berry P.M., Morecroft M.D. & Dawson T.P. 2008. Spatial scale affects bioclimate model projections of climate change impacts on mountain plants. *Global Change Biology* 14: 1089–1103.
- Trombotto D. 2002. Inventory of fossil cryogenic forms and structures in Patagonia and the mountains of Argentina beyond the Andes. *South African Journal of Science* 98: 171–180.
- Tsuyuzaki S., Sawada Y., Kushida K. & Fukuda M. 2007. A preliminary report on the vegetation zonation of palsas in the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge, northern Alaska, USA. *Ecological Research* 23: 787–793.
- Vallée S. & Payette S. 2007. Collapse of permafrost mounds along a subarctic river over the last 100 years (northern Québec). *Geomorphology* 90: 162–170.
- Veijalainen N., Lotsari E., Alho P., Vehviläinen B. & Käyhkö J. 2010. National scale assessment of climate change impacts on flooding in Finland. *Journal of Hydrology* 391: 333–350.

- Virkkala R., Heikkinen R.K., Leikola N. & Luoto M. 2008. Projected large-scale range reductions of northern-boreal land bird species due to climate change. *Biological Conservation* 141: 1343–1353.
- Virkkala R. & Rajasarkka A. 2010. Climate change affects populations of northern birds in boreal protected areas. *Biology Letters* 7: 395–398.
- Virkkala R. & Rajasärkkä A. 2012. Contrasting trends of bird species groups of conservation concern in a boreal protected area network in a changing climate. *Nature Conservation* 3: 1–20.
- Walther G.-R., Post E., Convey P., Menzel A., Parmesank C., Beebee T.J.C., Fromentin J.-M., Hoegh-GuldbergI O. & Bairlein F. 2002. Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature* 416: 389–395.
- Weaver C.P., Lempert R.J., Brown C., Hall J.A., Revell D. & Sarewitz D. 2013. Improving the contribution of climate model information to decision making: the value and demands of robust decision frameworks. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 4: 39–60.
- Weiß M. 2011. Future water availability in selected European catchments: a probabilistic assessment of seasonal flows under the IPCC A1B emission scenario using response surfaces. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science* 11: 2163–2171.
- Wetterhall F., Graham L.P., Andréasson J., Rosberg J. & Yang W. 2011. Using ensemble climate projections to assess probabilistic hydrological change in the Nordic region. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science* 11: 2295–2306.

- Wilby R., Charles S., Zorita E., Timbal B., Whetton P. & Mearns L. 2004. Guidelines for use of climate scenarios developed from statistical downscaling methods. Supporting material of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), prepared on behalf of Task Group on Data and Scenario Support for Impacts and Climate Analysis (TGICA). Supporting material of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, available from the DDC of IPCC TGCIA, pp. 27.
- Yoshino M., Horie T., Seino H., Tsuji H., Uchijima T. & Uchijima Z. 1988. The effect of climatic variations on agriculture in Japan. In: Party M.L., Carter T.R. & Konijn N.T. (eds.), *The Impact of Climatic Variations on Agriculture. Volulme I: Assessment in cool temperature and cold regions*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 725–868.
- Zuidhoff F.S. 2003. Palsa Growth and Decay in Northern Sweden [Elektronisk resurs]: Climatic and Environmental Controls. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis, Uppsala, pp. 30.
- Zuidhoff F.S. & Kolstrup E. 2000. Changes in palsa distribution in relation to climate change in Laivadalen, northern Sweden, especially 1960-1997. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes* 11: 55–69.

ISBN 978-952-11-4203-1 (print.) ISBN 978-952-11-4204-8 (PDF) ISSN 1239-1875 (print.) ISSN 1796-1661 (online)